A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court erred vvhen it admitted expert testimony on the 

pimp/prostitute relationship and denied appellant's motion to exclude the 

testimony. 

2. The court erred when it admitted into evidence data 

extracted from cellular telephones where there was no showing the 

evidence was reliable or accurate. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Appellant was charged with Promoting Commercial Sexual 

Abuse of a Minor on the theory that for a few weeks in early 2013 

appellant pimped two young women who were prostitutes before they met 

the appellant. A Detective was allowed to testify about the pimp/prostitute 

relationship, including hO\v pimps recruit young girls into prostitution, 

take all their earnings, and punish them for violating rules. The 

description of that relationship was unlike what the evidence showed was 

the relationship between the t\VO prostitutes and the man they identified as 

appellant. Did the court err in denying appellant's motion to exclude the 

testimony as irrelevant and prejudicial? 

2. Police used a machine or device called Universal Forensics 

Examination Device to extract data from the cellular telephones (cell 

phone) belonging to the two prostitutes. and a cell phone found in the car 
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appellant was driving when he was arrested. The extracted data purpOiied 

to show the phone numbers of the cell phones and calls and text messages 

between the cell phones. Did the comi err in admitting as evidence reporis 

generated by the device and testimony concerning the contents of those 

reports where the State failed to lay a foundation to authenticate the 

evidence and show the device was able to reliably and accurately extract 

data from the cell phones? Did the admission of the evidence prejudice 

appellant and deny him the right to a fair trial? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural Facts 

A Third Amended Information charged Yussef Abdulle with two 

counts of Promoting Commercial Sexual Abuse of a Minor 1(Counts 1 and 

2), one count of Unlawful Imprisonment (Count 3 ), and one count of 

Second Degree Assault (Count 4). CP 27-28. A.P. was named victim in 

Counts 1, 3 and 4. I d. B.I. was the named victim in Count 2. Id. 

A jury acquitted Abdulle on Counts 3 and 4. CP 139, 140. He was 

convicted on Counts 1 and 2. CP 137, 138. Abdulle was given a 

concurrent standard range sentence of 189 months on each conviction 

based on an offender score of 6. CP 69-81. Abdulle timely appealed his 

judgment and sentence. CP 82. 

I RCW 9.68A.101(1). 
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2. Substantive Facts 

a. State's Case 

A.P. was born July 25. 1996. RP 440.2 A.P.'s parents separated 

when she was five years old. RP 441. By the time A.P. was 15 years old 

her relationship with her mother had become dif1icult and by December 

2012 A.P. was spending most of the week at her boyfriend's house. with 

friends or with her older sister. RP 442. 446-447, 575. 

When A.P. and her sister also began having problems A.P. asked 

her mother if she could come back home to live. A.P.'s mother refused 

because she believed A.P. and A.P."s boyfriend had earlier broken into the 

house and stole some computers. RP 571-72. A.P.'s boyfriend told A.P. 

she could live with him but she did not want to live at his house. RP 573. 

She could have stayed with her father but she did not want to live with 

him either. RP 556. Instead, A.P. began working as a prostitute walking 

the streets in the Burien and White Center area. RP 450-5 L 460. 

B.L who was born September 9, 1996. also had problems with her 

mother. She too started engaging in prostitution when she was 15 years 

old. RP 602-606. B.I. walked the streets in the Tukwila area. RP 607. 

One day a friend gave B.I. the telephone number of a man named 

Derrick who B.I. later identified as Abdulle. RP 609-612. B.I. called the 

2 The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is sequentially numbered. 
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number and met Abdulle a few days later. RP 613-14. About a week after 

they met B. I. asked Abdulle if she could live with him and he agreed. RP 

616-17. B.I. was uncertain when she lived vvith Abdulle but believed it 

was between February and March 2013. RP 695,697-98. 

B.I. continued to engage in prostitution while living with Abdulle, 

and she told Abdulle she was prostituting herself RP 619-621. Once 

Abdulle gave her a man's phone number. B.l. called the number, met the 

man, had sex with him, and he paid her $200. RP 621-623. She did not 

give Abdulle any of the money. RP 628. Although Abdulle took B.I. to 

meet men a few times he did not know she was meeting the men to engage 

in prostitution. RP 686, 721. 

B.I. gave Abdulle money from a cell phone she sold and about 

$100.00 for gas and other expenses. RP 652. 656. But, Abdulle never 

asked B.I. for any money from her prostitution activities. RP 721. 

B.I. met A.P. through a mutual friend. RP 457. 629-30, 691. 

When A.P. told B.I. she had nowhere to stay following her mother's 

refusal to let her come back home, B.I. asked Abdulle if A.P. could also 

stay at his apariment. RP 461, 631. Abdulle initially rejected that idea but 

B.I. pleaded with him and he finally agreed. RP 631-32. A.P. moved into 

the apatiment sometime at the end ofFebruary 2013. RP 573. 
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A.P. testified that Derrick, who she too later identified as Abdulle. 

told her he would get her customers who she referred to as '"jugs" and take 

40% of what she made. RP 463-466. A.P. was fine with the 

arrangement. RP 466. A.P. continued to meet her regular customers but 

did not tell Abdulle because she did not want to give him any of the 

money she made. RP 477-78. A.P. said she once went with Abdulle and 

B.I. when Abdulle took B.I. to meet a "jug" in Tukwila. RP 468. Abdulle 

and A.P. then drove to Seattle where she said Abdulle sold some crack. 

RP 469. 

A few days after A.P. began staying with Abdulle and B.L A.P. 

said Abdulle set her up with 4 customers. RP 484. In the two weeks A.P. 

stayed with Abdulle she said he set her up vvith maybe a total of 6 or 7 

customers. Abdulle set the price A. P. charged those customers. After 

A.P. had sex with the customers Abdulle would pick her up and they 

would split the money. RP 482-487. 500. 502. 

While they stayed vvith Abdulle. A.P. and B.I shared the 

apartment's one bedroom and Abdulle slept on the couch. RP 475, 632. 

B.I. testified that about a week after A.P. moved into the apartment A.P. 

told B.I. that Abdulle wanted her and B.I. to leave. RP 633, 700. A.P., on 

the other hand, said B.I. and Abdulle got into an argument and B.I. left 

with her boyfriend. RP 513-14. A.P. said she asked B.I. if she could go 
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with her but B.I. told her she could not. RP 514. B.l. said that she found 

out later that A.P. did not leave but had continued to stay at Abdulle's 

apa11ment for about another week. RP 698-99. 

After B.I. left, A.P. no longer engaged m prostitution because 

Abdulle gave her some drugs that impaired her ability to function. RP 

515. At some point A.P. asked Abdulle if her boyfriend could come and 

stay in the apartment with her. When she made the request Abdulle pulled 

a gun from a dresser. pointed it at her. and told her that he would kill her if 

she allowed anyone come to the apartment. RP 518-521. The following 

day, March 13, 2013, Abdulle gave A.P. a purple pill and she became sick. 

RP 487, 523. A.P. went to a nearby store, called police, and was taken to 

the hospital. RP 523-24. 

A.P. was diagnosed with a pelvic inflammatory disease. RP 1118. 

The day after she was taken to the hospital A.P. spoke with a pediatric 

social worker. RP 1106. Although she spoke with the social worker about 

her living situation, school, substance abuse. mental health issues, and her 

friends, she did not mention anything about prostitution or Derrick. RP 

1108-09, 1116. 

A.P. also met with Sheronda Duncan of Y outhCare. an 

organization that helps girls involved in prostitution. RP 1156, 1164. 

A.P. told Duncan she was involved in prostitution and needed a place to 
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stay. RP 1167. Duncan referred A.P. to Bridge. which is similar to a 

charter school but also provides mental health counseling, chemical 

dependency counseling, housing. food, and clothes. RP 1160-1162. 

When A.P. was discharged from the hospital she wanted to pick up 

some clothes she left at Abdulle·s apartment. RP 1169. Duncan agreed to 

drive A.P. to the apartment and while Duncan drove A.P. was on her cell 

phone texting with someone to make arrangements to pick up her clothes. 

RP 1171. About 10 minute after Duncan and A.P. arrived at the apartment 

two African men showed up. RP 1174-75. Duncan described one man as 

stockier than the other, and she noticed that man was cockeyed and 

walked with a limp similar to the limp she said she noticed when she saw 

Abdulle walking in the hallway outside the courtroom. RP 11 77, 1181, 

1196. The stockier man accompanied A.P. into an apmiment and A.P. 

returned to a short time later with her clothes. RP 1178-79. Duncan then 

took A.P. to Bridge. RP 1184. 

A.P.'s mother, Maria Hedger. also testified she had a poor 

relationship with A.P. RP 274. Hedger knew A.P. was a thief because 

A.P. stole some computers from her but contrary to A.P.'s testimony 

Hedger denied she refused to let A.P. live at home. RP 416-17. Sometime 

in February 2013 Hedger and A.P. got into a fight and A.P. left for two 

weeks. A.P. told Hedger she was staying with her older sister and 
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occasionally with friends. RP 429-30. Hedger said that A.P. also stayed 

at home 3 or 4 days a week, contrary to A.P.'s testimony that during that 

entire time she was living in Abdulle's apartment. RP 431-432. 

In December 2011 police had contacted Hedger because A.P. had 

been shot in the leg. RP 405, 407. 555. In March 2012 police again 

contacted Hedger about A.P. RP 406. Because of those contacts Hedger 

claimed she became concerned about A.P."s behavior. RP 387. After she 

decided to go to Bridge, A.P. told Hedger about what she had been doing. 

RP 283-84. Hedger let A.P. use her cell phone and Hedger saw a text 

message from a Derrick that said '"you better call me back. RP 287-288. 

Hedger pretended to be A.P. and sent a message back asking what the 

person wanted, and she called the phone number associated with the 

message. RP 289. The text reply to Hedger's message read "get your 

mom off by back." RP 290. Hedger then called police sometime in 

March 2013. RP 280. 291. 

In early April 2013, Detective Maurice Washington contacted 

Hedger. RP 759-60. On April II, 2013 he and victim advocate Stephanie 

Thomas met with A.P. at the YouthCare facility. RP 762-63. A few days 

later A.P. took him to an apartment complex on Delridge in West Seattle 

and pointed out apartment 201 as the apartment she stayed in with Abdulle 

and B.I. She also pointed out a tan Buick and a silver Buick she said 
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Abdulle drove. RP 767-771. Washington obtained the Vehicle 

Identification Numbers from the two Buicks and came up with two names 

associated with the cars. RP 772-776. Washington also put together a 

photo montage and showed it to A.P. She picked a person from the 

montage she indicated looked similar to Derrick. The person she picked 

was not Abdulle. RP 777-782. 

A.P. also told Washington about B.I. RP 807-08. There were 

wan-ants for B.I. 's arrest and Washington began searching for her. RP 

809. On April 23. 2013 Washington found B.I. at a bus stop in Burien and 

arrested her. RP 81 1-813. B .I. spoke to Washington about Derrick and 

she pointed out the same Delridge apartment A.P. identified as Derrick's 

apatiment as well as the same two Buicks. RP 640, 821-22. B.I. was also 

shown the same photo montage that was shovvn to A.P. and B.I. picked the 

same man A.P. picked as looking like Derrick. RP 824-25. 

On April 30; 2013, Washington and another detective conducted a 

surveillance operation at the Delridge apartment complex. RP 844. They 

saw two black males come out of an apartment and walk to the one of the 

Buicks. The taller of the two walked with a limp. The men stood by the 

car then went back into the complex. RP 847-850. 

A few days later, on May 3, 2013, Washington went to see A.P. 

again because she said she was receiving text messages on her cell phone 
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from Derrick. RP 909. The phone number the messages were sent from 

was 206-673-0684. Washington took A.P. ·s phone and started 

communicating with the person sending the messages because he wanted 

to set up a meeting so he could arrest him. RP 910-912. Washington. 

pretending he was A.P .. arranged a meeting for the following Monday. 

RP 912. 

The following Monday. May 6, 2013, Washington picked A.P. up 

at about 6:00 p.m. and began texting the 673-0684 number. RP 918-19. 

Washington arranged to meet the person at a nearby Super 24 store. RP 

920. The person on the other end of the text messages indicated he would 

be driving a white Toyota Camry. RP 925. Washington and A.P. waited 

near the store and a few minutes later Washington saw a white Toyota 

drive past driven by a black man. It stopped at the store. RP 926-27. 

Washington had A.P. text the same number that she was in the store and 

would be right out. RP 928. Washington then drove A.P. by the store 

and she identified the man in the car as Derrick. RP 929-30. A swat team 

was involved in the operation. RP 916-918. 922-23. When A.P. identified 

the man the team moved in and arrested Abdulle. RP 933. 

Before he was handcuffed police had Abdulle get on the ground. 

When he was lifted off the ground there was a cell phone underneath him. 

RP 1207-08. Police also found another cell phone in the Camry, along 
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with a woman's driver·s license issued to Sadie Hassan. an insurance 

policy issued to an Abdulle. and a yellow receipt with the name Derrick on 

it. RP 955-56, 1030. 

Police searched Abdulle's Delridge apartment which was the same 

apartment where A.P. and B.I. said they stayed, and the two Buicks. RP 

1264. In the apartment police seized a cell phone, laptop computer and a 

key to a Buick. RP 1096. In the silver Buick police found what appeared 

to be a Washington State Title application issued to the MHA Corporation. 

RP 960-963. The MHA company deals with cars that insurance 

companies determine are total losses. RP 1241. Police also discovered 

that an Abdulle reported the Buick stolen in November 2013 and it was 

later recovered and returned. RP 1230-31. The contact phone number on 

the report was 673-0684 and the address listed was Abdulle's apartment. 

RP 1263. 

When police ran Abdulle's name in a law enforcement computer 

system it came up as associated with an Artan Omar. RP 1223. 

Washington discovered that Omar obtained a driver's license by 

misrepresenting himself as Abdulle. King County .Jail records showed 

that Omar was booked on March 2, 2013 and released on April 29,2013. 

RP 1299, 1512. When Omar was arrested he was booked under Abdulle's 

name but it was later determined he was not Abdulle. RP 1225-26. 
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b. Facts Pertaining to Assignment of Error 2 

Washington used a machine called Universal Forensics 

Examination Device (UFED) to extract data from the cell phones 

belonging to A.P. and B.L and the cell phone found in the Camry driven 

by Abdulle when he was arrested. Washington explained a cell phone is 

connected to the machine with cables. the phone's model and serial 

numbers are entered into the machine, and the machine itself displays a set 

of instructions for extracting data from the phone. RP 792. 803-04. 

Washington explained the UFED can perform a physical extraction of data 

from the phone, which includes calls made. text messages, instant 

messages, email applications, passwords. and deleted data. RP 798. The 

UFED can also perform a logical extraction of data stored in the phone's 

memory. RP 799. The extracted information is transferred to an external 

drive and printed. RP 800-01. Washington did not know how the UFED 

extracted data. and he was never trained by the machine's manufacturer on 

its use. RP 800. 

The UFED report on A.P.'s phone showed that on March 17, 2013 

there was a missed call from the 673-0684 number. RP 991; Ex. 41. A 

few minutes later there was a text message from the same the number that 

read "Yo asian guy and white guy ready tomo. Let me know I am good 

with BITCH." RP 992-93; Ex. 40. Washington said records showed 400 
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calls between the phone number the UFED extracted from A.P. 's phone 

and the 673-0684 number. RP 1027. 

Washington attempted to use the UFED to extract data from the 

phone recovered on the ground (a Samsung) when Abdulle was arrested, 

however, the machine was unable to perform an extraction. RP 997-98. 

Washington performed a manual extraction of some of the phone's data by 

photographing the data as it appeared on the phone's screen. RP 1000-01; 

Ex. 49. The phone number extracted from A.P. 's phone was listed in the 

Samsung under the name Emily. RP 1006. In the phone were the text 

messages A.P. and Washington had on May 6. 2013 with the 673-0684 

number. RP 1006-10 I6. 

Washington also performed a UFED extraction on the cell phone 

(a Nokia) found in the Camry Abdulle was driving when he was arrested. 

1 035; Ex. 52. The extraction showed the number for that phone was also 

673-0684. RP 1040. Washington testified that two phones can have the 

same number if a person uses the same SIM card in both phones. RP 

I 040-41. On only one day, March 1 I. 2013. were any messages between 

that phone and the phone number (380-2223) extracted from A.P. 's phone. 

RP I 038: Ex. 52. There were also 8 text messages between February 21 

and 22, 2013 to the phone number (294-72117) extracted from B.I.'s 

phone. RP 1035. 1253-1260; Ex. 52. The UFED extraction on B.I's 
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phone did not show any text messages to the 673-0684 number, however 

that number was listed in the phone's contact list under "Answer Dont." 

RP 1021: Ex. 39. 

c. Facts Pertaining to Assignment of Error 1 

The State moved in limine to allow Detective Joel Banks to testify 

as an expert on the ··underpinnings'" of the prostitution world. RP 44. 

When the court pressed the prosecuting attorney to identify with more 

specificity the nature of Bank's testimony. the prosecuting attorney 

responded Bank's would testify about the geographical areas of 

prostitution activity, how young women are recruited into prostitution and 

their living circumstances, and how the proceeds from prostitution activity 

is shared between a prostitute and a pimp. RP 49-50. 

Abdulle argued the proffered testimony was irrelevant and 

unhelpful because there was no nexus to the facts of case so the testimony 

would not aid the jury determine whether the crimes were committed. RP 

52-53. The court granted the State' motion finding that most jurors have 

limited or no experience with prostitution and the pimp/prostitute 

relationship. RP 53-54. 

Banks testified that prostitution activity occurs on the SeaTac strip. 

Pacific Highway. and Aurora. RP 160-161. Women engaged in 

prostitution also advertise on the internet. RP 149-150. Banks related 
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ce11ain terms used by prostitutes to refer to a customer, like "Jug", "Juke" 

or "John", and that a "bottom bitch'' means the prostitute who has been 

with a pimp the longest. RP 163-67. 

Over Abdulle's relevancy objection Banks vvas also permitted to 

testify about how pimps recruit young girls into prostitution, and the 

structure or hierarchy of the pimp/prostitute relationship. RP 167, 169-70. 

Banks told the jury that pimps impose rules on the prostitute and those 

rules included a prohibition on dating black men, making eye contact with 

another pimp, the requirement they regularly check in with the pimp, and 

the requirement the prostitute give the pimp all the money she earned. 

Banks described the punishment for breaking the rules, which includes 

forcing a prostitute to engage in sex in front of a crowd, public humiliation 

or beatings. RP 177-179. Banks testified that the ''bottom bitch" usually 

recruits young prostitutes. The "bottom bitch" collects the prostitute's 

money for the pimp and administers punishment if she breaks the rules. 

RP 179. Banks said that pimps recruit young women from schools, bus 

stops, and juvenile detention centers. RP 167-68. 

On cross examination Banks admitted he did not speak to B.I. or 

A.P. or if what he described occurred in this case. RP 180-81. However, 

even though B.I. and A.P both testified they were engaged in prostitution 
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before they met Abdulle, Banks said he never heard of a young girl 

prostituting herself without being recruited. RP 239. 

Abdulle moved to strike the testimony. Abdulle argued the 

testimony was not helpful to the jury and irrelevant because B.I. and A.P. 

did not deny they were engaged in prostitution before they met Abdulle,

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