72799-1

72799-1

FILED
December 22, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington NO. 72799-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

YUSSUF ABDULLE,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE THERESA B. DOYLE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

PHILIP SANCHEZ
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497

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

⁴ Abdulle objected when the State sought to elicit testimony regarding additional recruitment tactics. The court sustained the objection and excused the jury. RP 168-69. Abdulle again objected to relevance and the State made an offer of proof that the anticipated testimony from the victims would reveal that Abdulle offered the victim his apartment in exchange for their work as prostitutes. RP 169-74. The trial court ultimately limited the scope of examination. RP 175-76.

and tactics to avoid detection or arrest by officers. RP 185-203.

Counsel openly challenged Banks' "expert" qualifications in front of the jury, including his examination of pimp literature and experience with internet advertising. RP 208-50.⁵

On redirect, Banks testified that sexual acts often occur in parking lots, vacant lots, motels, and residential streets. RP 252-53. Pimps use other avenues for advertising other than "backpage.com," such as "T and A" where reviews and photos can be posted. RP 254. In cases where victims have reported being pimped, he will attempt to gain consent to search their phones for evidence of communication with a pimp related to jugs, dates, money or meeting information. RP 256. Banks again testified to having read portions of "Pimp's Bible," "Pimpology," and "Rules of the Game."

Banks concluded by testifying that cell phone information, recovered from a prostitute's phone, may or may not reveal their pimp's identity. RP 262-64. Banks also admitted he had not reviewed the police reports or witness statements and was not involved in Abdulle's investigation. RP 180.

⁵ "Ok. So what makes you, in your opinion, an expert?" RP 220. Banks then offered testimony of having street experience and trainings, specifically with the Western States Vice Investigators. RP 220.

After the witness and jury were excused, Abdulle renewed his motion to strike the testimony of Banks, arguing his expert testimony was not specialized, irrelevant to the anticipated testimony and not outside the common knowledge of the jury. RP 265-66. He further asserted that Banks did not have sufficient qualifications as an expert and that Banks admitted that "all pimps don't do these things." Id.

The State argued that practical experience may qualify an individual as an expert and that Banks' 1600 arrests qualified him to testify about the practices of pimps, prices, and dynamics of the pimp/prostitute relationship. Id. Additionally, Banks rendered no opinion testimony to suggest that Abdulle's behaviors fit the profile of a pimp. RP 267.

The trial court adhered to its prior ruling:

Okay. All right. I'll adhere to my previous ruling. This area's beyond the knowledge of the average person. This witness has specialized knowledge. It's relevant to this case because, for example, here the State's alleging that [the] Defendant help set up dates. A lot of that was done with the use of text messaging. There are allegations about how money was divided. And so his testimony, I think, will be helpful for the trier of fact and is connected to this case.

Id. Abdulle's motion to strike expert testimony was denied.

c. Trial Testimony Regarding UFED.

During the course of his investigation, Washington collected A.P.'s and B.I.'s cell phones in an effort to locate cell phone calls, email communications or photos sent between both girls and their pimp, "Derrick." RP 790-91. During Abdulle's arrest, a cell phone was located underneath Abdulle, lying on the ground where he had been arrested, and a second phone was later found in the car he was driving. RP 955, 1075, 1208-09.

Washington used a universal forensic examination device (UFED) to examine the cell phones. Id. A UFED is a "black computer box, compact, mobile" used for analyzing data on a phone. RP 792. The device, when turned on, indicates whether it is properly functioning and calibrated. RP 803. After it indicates that the system is properly functioning, the device displays a step by step process of how to connect it to a cell phone. Id. The device guides the user in connecting to a phone and in preparing the phone for examination. Id., RP 804. It will allow the user to search and enter, on the UFED, a phone by model or serial number. Id. Once that information is entered into the device, the specific phone is identified, and UFED provides instruction on how the phone is to be analyzed. Id.

Washington testified about the extraction process:

Washington: Ok. So, the interaction between the device and the phone is, the device is setup to do two types of read or analysis of the phone. It can do a physical extraction of information from the phone and it can do a logical extraction. The difference, physical extraction is a bit by bit copy of the flash memory of the phone. So you're getting all the live data, phone calls that were made in and out, text messages, instant messages, emails, applications that are used, Facebook, Twitter, any of those types of things. You're getting that from a physical extraction. You're also getting from a physical extraction any hidden information that's on the phone, i.e. passwords, secret vaults that are put on the phone, you're getting that, and you're also getting deleted data, anything that the person has recently tried to delete off the phone, that information is captured with a physical extraction.

Prosecutor: Okay.

Washington: Okay? And the other type of extraction it does is the logical extraction. And the logical extraction does a live or extracts live data from the phone, what has just occurred on the phone and can be absorbed or kept in its memory. That does not include hidden data, and that doesn't include deleted data.

Prosecutor: And when you say logical –when you said live, is that limited to that date for that particular device?

Washington: No, just what's on the phone and can be stored in its memory or if there's a sim card.

RP 798-99. During the examination process, a UFED will determine the type of extraction it can perform on the phone. Id.

In some instances the device may only be able to successfully perform one type of extraction. Id.

Once data from the cell phone is extracted, the UFED will notify the user that the analyzation has been completed. RP 805. The extracted data is put into a report identifying the type of phone, serial number, model number, date, phone number assigned to the phone, instant messages and other phone data. RP 800-01, 829, Exhibits 39, 42, 52.

Although Washington admitted he had not been trained directly by the manufacturer of the device, he had received "several weeks, several months" of training on how to operate the UFED device. RP 797. Washington had also been trained by fellow detectives and FBI agents. RP 793. Washington further added that he uses a UFED "2-3 times" a week and had done so previously on "hundreds" of other occasions. RP 797-98. The UFED device is kept in a forensic and FBI office where other persons maintain the machines and update the software. RP 800.

Washington was able to perform a full extraction from A.P.'s phone but only a partial extraction from B.I.'s phone. RP 807, 829. A portion of A.P.'s UFED report containing a text message from the number "206-673-0684" cell phone was admitted. RP 1022,

Exhibit 42. Only a portion of B.I.'s "contacts list," identifying the phone number "673-0684" as "answer don't," was admitted.

RP 1021, Exhibit 39. The UFED report related to the cell phone recovered in the defendant's car with an assigned phone number of "673-0684," containing messages exchanged with A.P. and B.I., was admitted. RP 1035-38, Exhibit 52.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED RELEVANT EXPERT TESTIMONY ON PROSTITUTION PRACTICES.

Abdulle contends the trial court abused its discretion when it permitted irrelevant and prejudicial expert testimony of Det. Banks. His claim should fail. The trial court properly ruled that expert testimony was relevant and helpful to the trier of fact in understanding whether Abdulle had pimped two juvenile prostitutes. In the alternative, even if the trial court abused its discretion when admitting such expert testimony, any error was harmless.

- a. Expert Testimony Was Relevant.

Expert testimony requires a qualified witness and helpful testimony. State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 762, 168 P.3d 359 (2007); see also State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12

(1987). The decision to admit expert testimony will be reversed only for an abuse of discretion. State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 718 P.3d 407, cert. denied, 479 U.S. 995, 107 S. Ct. 599, 93 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1986). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. State v. Magers, 162 Wn.2d 174, 181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). Unless there has been an abuse of discretion, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 715, 940 P.3d 1239 (1997).

Expert testimony is defined under Evidence Rule (ER) 702 as "scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge" that "will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue."⁶ ER 401 requires that evidence be "relevant" and ER 403 requires the court to consider whether "relevant" evidence is "substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations

⁶ ER 702 states: "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise."

of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”⁷

Here, the State presented testimony that both victims were juvenile runaways who had prostituted. B.I. had experience “walking” in Tukwila, while A.P. was relatively new to the prostitution life. RP 451, 606-09. With nowhere to go, both girls quickly accepted Abdulle’s offer to stay at his apartment if they continued to prostitute and to share with him their profits. RP 466.⁸ Although A.P. had no issue splitting her earnings, Abdulle and B.I. argued about money. RP 502, 514. For more than a few weeks, the girls shared a bedroom while Abdulle slept on his living room sofa. RP 489, 661, Exhibits 8-14. Abdulle arranged for dates by cell phone and provided transportation to both girls in his Buick. RP 460 (A.P.), 502 (A.P.), 587 (A.P.), 653-57 (B.I.), Exhibit 21.

Abdulle told A.P. to look cute for photos and her clients. RP 475, 501. B.I. would take “bra-shots” for her clients. RP 659,

⁷ ER 401 states: “Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”

⁸ A.P. presented testimony that Abdulle allowed her to stay but only if she agreed to allow him to set the price, arrange the “jug” and share her profits. B.I. denied entering such an agreement, and claimed to have stayed rent free. RP 622. However, B.I. did admit that Abdulle provided her a customer. RP 623. The jury was free to assess the credibility of each witness’s testimony in rendering their verdict.

Exhibit 8. Abdulle arranged 6-7 "jugs" for A.P. and set her price between 120 to 130 dollars. RP 499-500. If she made a 100 dollars he would keep \$40. RP 465. B.I. also profited \$200 from at least one "jug" provided by Abdulle. RP 622-23.

Although Abdulle was not typically violent or possessive of either girl, he "kicked-out" B.I. following a money dispute. RP 504, 515. He later pointed a gun at A.P. and threatened to shoot her if she "pissed him off" and left. RP 520, 521. After A.P. managed to leave his apartment, following a drug overdose, Abdulle texted A.P. and asked her if she would return to work. RP 911-12.

In State v. Simon,⁹ the defendant was charged with first degree promoting prostitution where it was alleged he had pimped a juvenile victim. Id. at 951-52. At trial, the State was permitted to present testimony of a Seattle Police vice detective's experience and conversations with prostitutes about the pimp/prostitute relationship. Id. at 953. Although the detective had investigated over 50 promoting prostitution cases, he had not taken any course work in the area or police officer courses covering the arrest of prostitutes or investigation related to promotion of prostitution. Id.

⁹ State v. Simon, 64 Wn. App. 948, 831 P.2d 139 (1991), rev'd in part on other grounds, 120 Wn.2d 196, 840 P.2d 172 (1992).

at 963. This court held that where the witness was qualified as an expert,¹⁰ helpful to the trier of fact, provided no opinion as to the defendant's guilt and offered general testimony, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when admitting the expert testimony. Id. at 964.

Like Simon, Abdulle had been charged with two counts of commercial sex abuse of a minor where it was alleged he had pimped and prostituted two juvenile girls. CP 42-43; RP 463-49, 475-76, 622-23, 627-29.¹¹ Banks' general pimp/prostitution testimony not only provided a context for terms such as "walking," "johns" or "jugs," but also educated the jury regarding juvenile prostitution and pimp practices. While it was not alleged that Abdulle was particularly violent to either victim, other testimony regarding the pimp/prostitute relationship was relevant where the girls acquiesced to Abdulle's conditions of setting "dates," providing transportation, price and profits.

¹⁰ The detective had testified to having been involved in "investigating street prostitution for over 6 years, that he had investigated over 400 prostitution related crimes, and that he had investigated over 50 promoting prostitution cases." Simon, 64 Wn. App. at 963.

¹¹ Although B.I. testified that she worked independently of Abdulle, she was later kicked out the apartment following an argument with Abdulle regarding money. RP 505, 513-15, 697. Additionally, A.P. testified that she and Abdulle had taken B.I. to meet a date at a Jack in the Box located in Tukwila. RP 469.

Abdulle argues that portions of the expert testimony were cumulative or irrelevant because the circumstances of B.I. and A.P. did not involve recruitment, profit sharing, advertising, pimp rules or a "bottom-bitch." Br. of App. at 21. These claims are without merit. First, knowing she needed a place to stay, Abdulle told A.P. he would arrange the date, price and her earnings, if she were to stay at his apartment. In other words, the rules and terms of their living arrangement. Second, Abdulle would not have met A.P. had B.I. not arranged a meeting between the two. While B.I. did not claim to be a "bottom-bitch" during testimony, it could have reasonably been inferred she helped Abdulle recruit another juvenile prostitute, A.P. Third, Abdulle used pictures of A.P. as advertising for prospective "jugs" and the two split her earnings. Even B.I. admitted to giving Abdulle "gas money" to cover transportation, including a trip to meet a date.

Given the facts and evidence presented, Abdulle cannot show the trial court abused its discretion when admitting Banks' expert testimony. First, Banks was qualified as an expert in the business, culture, and practices between a pimp and prostitute based on his experience and training. CP 94-99; RP 53. Second, the trial court found that Banks' expert testimony would be helpful

because most jurors have “limited, if no information or experience.” RP 53-54. “If reasons for admitting or excluding the opinion evidence are ‘fairly debatable,’ the trial court’s exercise of discretion will not be disturbed.” Simon, 64 Wn. App. at 963. Here, the reasons for admitting Banks’ testimony were less than “fairly debatable,” and admission was proper.

b. Any Error Was Harmless.

An evidentiary error not of constitutional magnitude, requires reversal only if the error, within reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 709, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S. Ct. 1193, 140 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1998) (citing State v. Halstein, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)). Prejudice is found where a reasonable probability exists that the confidence in the outcome of the trial is undermined. State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 649, 845 P.2d 289 (2000). A trial court’s decision to admit evidence is subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Hayward, 152 Wn. App. 632, 651, 217 P.3d 354 (2009).

Banks provided general testimony regarding his experience with pimp/prostitution practices. On cross-examination, Abdulle elicited additional testimony related to prostitution practices,

customers, manipulation tactics of prostitutes, and the benefits when claiming to be a victim of prostitution. RP 185-203. Banks was also subjected to extensive examination regarding his "expert" qualifications, escort practices, and internet advertising. RP 220, 234-51. More importantly, however, as cautioned in Simon, Banks did not express any opinion as to Abdulle's guilt or whether his conduct alleged was indicative of pimp practices.

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